

Carbon management in dryland agricultural systems. A review

Daniel Plaza-Bonilla, José Luis Arrúe, Carlos Cantero-Martínez, Rosario

Fanlo, Ana Iglesias

▶ To cite this version:

Daniel Plaza-Bonilla, José Luis Arrúe, Carlos Cantero-Martínez, Rosario Fanlo, Ana Iglesias. Carbon management in dryland agricultural systems. A review. Agronomy for Sustainable Development, 2015, 35 (4), pp.1319-1334. 10.1007/s13593-015-0326-x. hal-01359129

HAL Id: hal-01359129 https://hal.science/hal-01359129

Submitted on 1 Sep 2016

HAL is a multi-disciplinary open access archive for the deposit and dissemination of scientific research documents, whether they are published or not. The documents may come from teaching and research institutions in France or abroad, or from public or private research centers. L'archive ouverte pluridisciplinaire **HAL**, est destinée au dépôt et à la diffusion de documents scientifiques de niveau recherche, publiés ou non, émanant des établissements d'enseignement et de recherche français ou étrangers, des laboratoires publics ou privés.



Distributed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License

REVIEW ARTICLE



Carbon management in dryland agricultural systems. A review

Daniel Plaza-Bonilla¹ · José Luis Arrúe² · Carlos Cantero-Martínez³ · Rosario Fanlo³ · Ana Iglesias⁴ · Jorge Álvaro-Fuentes²

Accepted: 3 July 2015 / Published online: 2 September 2015 © The Author(s) 2015. This article is published with open access at Springerlink.com

Abstract Dryland areas cover about 41 % of the Earth's surface and sustain over 2 billion inhabitants. Soil carbon (C) in dryland areas is of crucial importance to maintain soil quality and productivity and a range of ecosystem services. Soil mismanagement has led to a significant loss of carbon in these areas, which in many of them entailed several land degradation processes such as soil erosion, reduction in crop productivity, lower soil water holding capacity, a decline in soil biodiversity, and, ultimately, desertification, hunger and poverty in developing countries. As a consequence, in dryland areas proper management practices and land use policies need to be implemented to increase the amount of C sequestered in the soil. When properly managed, dryland soils have a great potential to sequester carbon if financial incentives for implementation are provided. Dryland soils contain the largest pool of inorganic C. However, contrasting results are found in the literature on the magnitude of inorganic C sequestration under different management regimes. The rise of atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) levels will

Daniel Plaza-Bonilla Daniel.Plaza-Bonilla@toulouse.inra.fr

- ¹ INRA, UMR1248 AGIR, 24 Chemin de Borde Rouge–Auzeville CS 52627, F-31326 Castanet Tolosan, France
- ² Departamento de Suelo y Agua, Estación Experimental de Aula Dei, Consejo Superior de Investigaciones Científicas (CSIC), POB 13034, 50080 Zaragoza, Spain
- ³ Departamento de Producción Vegetal y Ciencia Forestal, Unidad Asociada EEAD-CSIC, Agrotecnio, Universitat de Lleida, Rovira Roure 191, 25198 Lleida, Spain
- ⁴ Departamento de Economía y Ciencias Sociales Agrarias, Universidad Politécnica de Madrid, Avda. Complutense s/n, 28040 Madrid, Spain

greatly affect dryland soils, since the positive effect of CO_2 on crop productivity will be offset by a decrease of precipitation, thus increasing the susceptibility to soil erosion and crop failure. In dryland agriculture, any removal of crop residues implies a loss of soil organic carbon (SOC). Therefore, the adoption of no-tillage practices in field crops and growing cover crops in tree crops have a great potential in dryland areas due to the associated benefits of maintaining the soil surface covered by crop residues. Up to 80 % reduction in soil erosion has been reported when using no-tillage compared with conventional tillage. However, no-tillage must be maintained over the long term to enhance soil macroporosity and offset the emission of nitrous oxide (N₂O) associated to the greater amount of water stored in the soil when notillage is used. Furthermore, the use of long fallow periods appears to be an inefficient practice for water conservation, since only 10-35 % of the rainfall received is available for the next crop when fallow is included in the rotation. Nevertheless, conservation agriculture practices are unlikely to be adopted in some developing countries where the need of crop residues for soil protection competes with other uses. Crop rotations, cover crops, crop residue retention, and conservation agriculture have a direct positive impact on biodiversity and other ecosystem services such as weed seed predation, abundance and distribution of a broad range of soil organisms, and bird nesting density and success. The objective of sequestering a significant amount of C in dryland soils is attainable and will result in social and environmental benefits.

Keywords Biodiversity · Climate change · Dryland agroecosystems · Ecosystem services · Livestock · Research perspectives · Socioeconomic factors · Soil carbon sequestration · Soil water



Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. The need for carbon management improvement in dryland agroecosystems
 - 2.1. Better understanding of agricultural management and soil carbon issues
 - 2.1.1. Soil erosion and carbon losses
 - 2.1.2. Soil inorganic carbon sequestration and dynamics
 - 2.1.3. Soil biodiversity and ecosystem services
 - 2.2. Adoption of more efficient water management practices
 - 2.3. Livestock integration into dryland farming systems
 - 2.4. Climate change adaptation and mitigation
 - 2.5. Social and economic barriers and opportunities
 - 2.5.1. Improved carbon management viewed as an externality
 - 2.5.2. Measures at farmer level and policy support
 - 2.5.3. Mainstreaming global development policies with C sequestration in drylands
- 3. Conclusions
- Acknowledgements
- 4. References

1 Introduction

Dryland areas are characterized by a low ratio of mean annual precipitation to potential evapotranspiration (ranging from 0.05 to 0.65) and cover about 41 % of the surface of the Earth (Lal 2004; Middleton and Thomas (1997). The soils of these areas have an inherent low stock of organic carbon (C) due to climatic limitations. On the contrary, they contain a significant amount of inorganic C, of a persistent nature, mainly present in the form of soil carbonates (Denef et al. 2008). Given the almost nonexistent chance for expanding irrigation in most dryland agroecosystems, other ways of land use optimization need to be identified (Hall and Richards 2013).

Mismanagement such as intensive tillage, excessive grazing, or elimination of vegetative cover has resulted in the loss of some 13–24 Pg C in grasslands and drylands (Ojima et al. 1995), leading to important degradation processes such as soil erosion, loss of ecosystem services, and, ultimately, to desertification (Zika and Erb 2009). Desertification has been directly related to global sustainability threats such as malnourishment and poverty and huge economic losses, particularly in dry climate areas (Zika and Erb 2009). Currently, dryland areas are facing new challenges such as the impact of climate change on hydrological regimes and net primary productivity, as well as an increasing human population pressure (Mouat and Lancaster 2008).

Deringer



In spite of the limitations and negative perspectives for the future, soils in dryland areas have a great potential to sequester C if appropriate management and land use policies are applied (FAO 2004; Lal 2001; Marks et al. 2009) within an ecological intensification framework (Figs 1 and 2). That framework advocates raising yields without negatively affecting the environment (Cassman 1999). The maximization of soil organic carbon (SOC) stocks in dryland areas not only has the potential to mitigate current increase in atmospheric carbon dioxide (CO₂) concentration, but also can improve soil quality attributes such as aggregate stability, fertility, and nutrient cycling, among others. Those attributes would lead to the reduction of soil susceptibility to degradation processes such as erosion and to the maintenance of agricultural productivity and ecosystem services. This last aspect is paramount to improving the livelihood of people living in drylands, over 38 % of the global human population (Maestre et al. 2012).

In the last few decades, there has been extensive research in dryland areas regarding soil C sequestration. Various reviews have analyzed soil management and land use practices that maximize C sequestration in dryland systems (Follett 2001; Lal 2002, 2004). However, basic aspects remain poorly understood. In this review, we cover key issues related to C management for soil C sequestration in dryland areas, highlighting future research priorities to clarify current knowledge gaps under a multidisciplinary point of view (Fig. 3).

2 The need for carbon management improvement in dryland agroecosystems

2.1 Better understanding of agricultural management and soil carbon issues

2.1.1 Soil erosion and carbon losses

Dryland environments are usually prone to soil erosion due to the lack of a significant soil cover, which is usually aggravated by the high intensity of rainstorms (typical in some dryland areas such as the Mediterranean basin), a reduced soil structural stability, which is generally associated to a limited amount of SOC, and a high human pressure. Other factors such as the presence of steep slopes also exacerbate the susceptibility to soil erosion in drylands (García-Ruiz 2010). Moreover, as a consequence of climate change, some projections suggest that erosion rates could increase by 25–55 % during the twenty-first century (Delgado et al. 2013). In turn, the erosion of soil surface layers can also lead to the exposure of carbonates to climatic elements and acid deposition, aspects that could increase the loss of C from soils to the atmosphere (Lal 2004; Yang et al. 2012).

Three main mechanisms explain the flux of organic C between soil and the atmosphere as a result of an erosive **Fig. 1** A semiarid dryland agricultural system in the Ebro valley (NE Spain): a tillage and fertilization experiment was established in 2010 in a commercial 4-year no-tilled field devoted to winter cereal production. The impact of a single pass of disk plow (15-cm depth) before sowing (*plots of the right*) and of the maintenance of notillage (*plots of the left*) on crop

performance is shown



process: (i) at eroding sites, SOC is decreased because plant inputs are decreasing with decreased productivity; (ii) SOC decomposition is enhanced due to physical and chemical breakdown during detachment and transport; and (iii) decomposition of the allochthonous and autochthonous C fraction buried is reduced (Van Oost et al. 2007).

In dryland areas, the critical role played by vegetative covers on soil erosion reduction and SOC maintenance has been long recognized. However, in these areas, conventional management techniques hinder the presence of an adequate protection of the soil surface: (i) the use of intensive tillage in herbaceous and tree crops (Álvaro-Fuentes et al. 2008), (ii) feed needs for animal production (López et al. 2003), (iii) excessive grazing (Hoffmann et al. 2008), and (iv) the recent high feedstock demand for bioenergy (Miner et al. 2013). In developing countries of Asia and Africa, the extractive nature of using crop residues as fodder for cattle and animal dung as a cooking fuel poses a serious problem to soil quality and the sustainability of crop production (Lal 2006). In those countries, soil organic carbon decline needs to be counteracted by increasing the amount of crop residues produced. However, due to the highly weathered nature of soils in some developing regions such as West Africa, some fertilization is needed to avoid the depletion of soil nutrients (Bationo et al. 2000).

Obviously, there is a need for a reliable economic assessment of the long-term benefits of maintaining crop residues on the soil surface in terms of C sequestration, erosion reduction, nutrient cycling, and water retention. This information would be of a great value for farmers in order to reduce the amount of crop residues that is currently removed from agricultural fields given the concomitant short-term economic returns of this practice.

The use of conservation tillage and more recently no-tillage practices leave the soil covered by crop residues, which has









Fig. 3 Approach to evaluate research needs for optimizing C management in dryland agroecosystems

long been recognized as an excellent means of decreasing soil erosion (Delgado et al. 2013). For instance, given their potential in reducing soil degradation, the Chinese government is promoting the use of conservation tillage practices throughout vast dryland regions of northern China (Wang et al. 2007). According to data from the Chinese national projects regarding conservation tillage, the last authors reported a 60 to 79 % decrease in soil erosion when using no-tillage. Similarly, in a modeling study, Fu et al. (2006) reported a decrease of soil erosion from 17.7 to 3.9 t ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ when adopting no-tillage, due to mitigation of rill generation. Different tillage experiments have been carried out by the International Center for Agricultural Research in the Dry Areas (ICARDA) in the Central Asia region. According to Thomas (2008), those experiments show that conservation tillage performed well in terms of energy and soil conservation and that crop yields were either not affected or slightly increased. Unfortunately, the benefits of no-tillage have not been tested in all the dryland agricultural areas of the world. For instance, in Central Asia, only Kazakhstan has a brief history in adopting no-tillage farming with locally manufactured machinery (Thomas, 2008). The study about the potential use of no-tillage in Africa carried out by the German Agency for Technical Cooperation (1998) concluded that in the semiarid and arid regions of West and Southeastern Africa, different constraining factors such as (i) short growing season, (ii) low levels of biomass production, and (iii) competition for crop residues would make more viable the use of reduced tillage methods. Similarly, for semiarid West Africa, Lahmar et al. (2012) concluded that it is



unlikely that conservation agriculture practices, which are based on the presence of crop residues on the soil surface, will be adopted by farmers due to the competition with other residue uses.

Recent technological advances can improve the performance of no-tillage in dryland areas. For instance, in field crop production, the development and use of stripper-headers as attachments for combines has a great potential to reduce soil erosion risks when no-tillage is used. This technological improvement virtually leaves all crop residues on the soil surface, thus reducing harvest costs by lower fuel consumption (Spokas and Steponavicius 2011) and, as a result, diminishing CO_2 emissions to the atmosphere. This technology is also of great interest in areas that receive winter snow for its capacity to trap the snow (Henry et al. 2008). Moreover, the presence of taller vertical crop stalks reduces the wind speed, thus lowering the chance of losing soil C due to wind erosion and minimizing water evaporation (Henry et al. 2008).

Soil management in tree-cropping (e.g., vine, olives, almonds, etc.) traditionally involves frequent tillage because uncontrolled weed growth competes for water resources with crops. However, some studies have shown that soil erosion can be minimized while maintaining yields with the use of a properly managed vegetative cover (Gómez et al. 1999; Kairis et al. 2013). In this context, more research is needed to find the optimum technological choices for cover cropping in order to enhance SOC stocks while reducing the susceptibility to soil erosion under water-limiting environments. This would imply the identification of (i) the best species to act as vegetative cover, (ii) optimum termination strategies such as chemical weeding or physical clearing, and (iii) the best dates for termination according to local rainfall distribution and crop water needs.

Future research also must address the impacts of the demand for cellulosic-based fuels on soil conservation and SOC stocks maintenance (Wilhelm et al. 2007). In this line, Miner et al. (2013) modeled the impact of harvesting crop residues for biofuel production, in a wheat-corn-fallow cropping system in the semiarid central Great Plains. These authors observed unsustainable wind erosion rates after harvesting 10 to 30 % of corn residues, while up to 80 % of wheat residues could be removed without reaching the tolerable soil loss limit. However, they also found that any removal of wheat or corn residues implied a loss of SOC. This study clearly indicates that the use of crop residues for bioenergy needs to be considered with caution in dryland areas. Similarly, in grassland systems, the management of livestock grazing intensities needs to be optimized to reduce soil compaction and surface sealing, processes that can exacerbate the loss of SOC by wind and water erosion and reduce the production of biomass (Delgado et al. 2013). For instance, in these systems, it has been reported that erosion can lower soil productivity by at least 10-20 % due to a reduction of SOC and nutrients and to

related negative impacts on other soil properties (Delgado et al. 2013). In developing countries, the lack of affordable nutrients and soil mining makes crops entirely reliant on soil organic matter (Samaké et al. 2005).

Current research on the effects of agricultural management practices on soil erosion and C stabilization has been performed at the plot scale. For that reason, the role of erosiondeposition processes on SOC balance at the landscape scale has not been accurately assessed (Govaerts et al. 2009; Izaurralde et al. 2007). This would also help us clarify the current controversial and site-specific effects of soil erosion on the global C cycle (Kuhn et al. 2009) without forgetting the pool of inorganic C. Currently, there is a lack of understanding regarding the impact of wind and water erosion on greenhouse gas emissions (Kuhn et al. 2012), mainly methane (CH₄) and nitrous oxide (N₂O). For instance, erosion can increase indirectly N₂O emissions in upper slope landscape positions due to the greater application of nitrogen (N) fertilizers carried out by the farmers to compensate for the reduction in soil fertility. In dryland ecosystems, the maintenance of a protective vegetative cover appears as the most practical and straightforward strategy to reduce soil C losses by erosion. Consequently, agricultural activity in those areas must be based on conservation agriculture practices, leaving crop residues on the soil surface.

2.1.2 Soil inorganic carbon sequestration and dynamics

There is a growing recognition that the interaction of agricultural practices and soil inorganic carbon is of key importance to the global C cycle. However, the lack of information on soil inorganic carbon dynamics in cropland soils as affected by land use and management, as well as the uncertainties regarding pedogenic inorganic C in relation to soil inorganic carbon sequestration, were identified in the late 1990s as major knowledge gaps regarding the C sequestration potential of agricultural activities (Lal and Kimble 2000). These authors pointed out the need to quantify the dynamics of the soil inorganic carbon pool in dryland soils of arid and semiarid regions and proposed several land use and soil management strategies for soil inorganic carbon sequestration in dryland ecosystems, through the formation of secondary carbonates. Through the latter process, Lal (2004) reported an average soil inorganic carbon sequestration rate of 0.1–0.2 Mg ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in dryland ecosystems.

Apart from its potential as atmospheric CO_2 sink, soil inorganic carbon may play an indirect positive role in soil aggregation through the interaction between carbonates and soil organic matter. According to Bronick and Lal (2005), the beneficial effect of carbonates on soil structure is regulated by soil organic matter. At low organic matter contents, the water stability of soil macroaggregates is strongly correlated with the carbonate content (Boix-Fayos et al., 2001). Carbonates can also contribute to soil organic matter protection and stabilization. In calcareous soils, with high exchangeable Ca, high carbonate contents enhance physical SOC protection within aggregates due to a cation bridging effect that leads to slower SOC decomposition rates compared with non-calcareous soils (Clough and Skjemstad 2000). However, depending on soil management, the relative role of carbonates and soil organic matter in soil aggregation may alter the aggregates hierarchy as observed by Virto et al. (2011) in carbonate-rich soils in semiarid Spain.

However, in the last decade, few studies have evaluated the impacts of land use and management practices on soil inorganic carbon dynamics in semiarid lands (Denef et al. 2011). In some of those studies, soil inorganic carbon storage has proven to be significantly higher in cultivated dryland soils compared with native grassland soils (Cihacek and Ulmer 2002; Denef et al. 2008), but the reduction of tillage may have differing effects in the long term. Hence, contrasting results have been obtained when comparing the amount of soil inorganic carbon under different types of tillage (Blanco-Canqui et al. 2011; Moreno et al. 2006; Sainju et al. 2007).

Carbon sequestration as inorganic forms has been proposed as a viable alternative in irrigated soils in semiarid and arid regions (Entry et al. 2004). However, the literature on this issue is scarce and also with contrasting arguments and results. Hence, while some authors consider that secondary carbonate precipitation is an important mechanism of soil C sequestration, others argue that dissolution of carbonates should be considered sequestration (Sanderman 2012). In this context, when calcium-enriched groundwaters are used for irrigation, CaCO₃ is formed, thus leading to the release of CO₂ (Schlesinger 2000).

Likewise, the studies on soil inorganic carbon dynamics under long-term irrigated farming have shown mixed results. While Entry et al. (2004) and Wu et al. (2009) reported a greater amount of soil inorganic carbon in irrigated treatments compared with native soils, Denef et al. (2008) did not find significant difference in soil inorganic carbon between irrigated and dryland treatments. In turn, Halvorson and Schlegel (2012) found that under limited irrigation, soil inorganic carbon tends to increase with time in all soil depths, supporting the results by Blanco-Canqui et al. (2010). In any case, an account of the entire C footprint would be needed when considering soil inorganic carbon sequestration with irrigation, taking into account the energetic cost of pumping water and the concomitant release of CO_2 in the case of pumpbased irrigation systems (Schlesinger 2000).

Other studies have linked soil inorganic carbon sequestration with the quality of the irrigation water. For instance, Eshel et al. (2007) found that long-term irrigation of semiarid soils undergo significant losses of soil inorganic carbon in the root zone compared with non-irrigated soils and that these soil inorganic carbon losses are much larger in soils irrigated with



potable fresh water compared with effluent-irrigated soils. They concluded that effluent water inhibited carbonate dissolution. Data provided by Artiola and Walworth (2009) suggest that the release and leaching of both SOC and soil inorganic carbon are directly linked to the dissolution of soil carbonates, and therefore related to irrigation water quality. However, the literature on the effects of agricultural land management on leaching of dissolved inorganic C is also limited (Walmsley et al. 2011).

Furthermore, most of the studies dealing with CO_2 emission from agricultural soils to the atmosphere assume that all the CO_2 emissions are due to respiration. Some authors, however, have questioned whether this assumption is valid in calcareous soils. For instance, Tamir et al. (2011) reported that the dissolution of soil carbonates can contribute up to 30 % of the CO_2 emitted from calcareous soils in Israel. In contrast, in an incubation experiment, Ramnarine et al. (2012) estimated that the proportion of CO_2 originating from carbonates was up to 74 % in both conventional tillage and no-tillage samples from a calcareous soil in Canada. The last findings suggest that the CO_2 emitted by respiration could be largely overestimated in calcareous soils.

The complex nature of the accumulation and depletion processes involved in soil inorganic carbon sequestration might partially explain not only the knowledge gaps mentioned above but also the contrasting results found in the literature on the magnitude of soil inorganic carbon sequestration under different management regimes (Rodeghiero et al. 2011). As pointed out by Sanderman (2012), in his recent review on the major soil inorganic carbon transformations in soils as affected by the agricultural management in Australia, more research is needed to determine the real importance that management-induced changes in soil inorganic carbon stocks have on net greenhouse gas emissions.

Despite its potential in semiarid and arid regions, the implementation of key practices for soil inorganic carbon sequestration through pedogenic carbonate formation is still impeded by our limited knowledge on this particular issue.

2.1.3 Soil biodiversity and ecosystem services

Biodiversity is considered fundamental for the stability of ecosystem services in agricultural systems (Naeem et al. 2012). Plant biodiversity represented by polycultures, crop rotations, cover crops, and agroforestry with perennial vegetation can provide important ecosystem services (Perfecto and Vandermeer 2008. In agricultural systems, the use of that diversity in combination with other agricultural practices such as vegetative mulches, fertilization, irrigation, and the reduction of tillage intensity affects soil C pools, increasing net productivity (Hoyle et al. 2013; Stockmann et al. 2013).

In dryland agroecosystems, the lack of water is the main limiting factor affecting crop diversity, net primary

2 Springer



productivity, SOC dynamics, and soil microbial activity (Skopp et al. 1990). In dryland agriculture, there are four important aspects to improve productivity, provide ecosystem services, and increase SOC: (i) taking advantage of plant diversity (i.e., use of legumes, agroforestry), (ii) establishing proper crop residue management, (iii) improving our knowledge about the importance of soil biology on C cycling, and (iv) determining the optimum level of ecological crop intensification (i.e., rotations, fertilization, etc.).

Plant diversity promoted by crop rotations (West and Post 2002) usually increases aerial biomass and favors the diversification of root systems (i.e., belowground C allocation), with a diverse effect on SOC by root-derived products (Stockmann et al. 2013). Deep rooting can contribute to the enhancement of soil C stock in depth (Hoyle et al. 2013; Jobbagy and Jackson 2000). In rainfed agriculture, the development of practices for efficient use of the whole soil profile, such as the use of species and cultivars with deeper and improved root systems, must be considered, as it is highlighted in section 2.2. The development of better-adapted root systems needs to be accompanied by an improvement in the current knowledge about the changes that occur in soil biodiversity with soil depth and their effects on C cycling (Witt et al. 2011).

Given the low reliability of seasonal precipitation forecasts in semiarid areas, the selection of crops with assured positive net returns is a difficult task (Saseendran et al 2013). The inclusion of legumes in crop rotations has been proposed as a practice for increasing SOC in dryland conditions (Sanderson et al. 2013). Legumes play a positive role in the reduction of subsequent crop fertilization needs. However, the higher mineralization rate of leguminous crop residues can increase the risk of N leaching during fallow periods, since most semiarid dryland systems give small opportunities to the use of cover crops. Furthermore, the addition of N-rich crop residues from legumes is not always followed by higher SOC stocks as a consequence of the greater rate of decomposition (Stockmann et al. 2013). Moreover, under a purely economic perspective, the inclusion of legumes in semiarid dryland crop rotations is not always beneficial (Álvaro-Fuentes et al. 2009a) and could also lead to greater N losses as N₂O (Sanderson et al. 2013).

Crop residue properties (i.e., quantity, quality, placement, and supply interval) affect SOC and soil fauna, bacteria, and fungi (Agren and Bosatta 1996; Dalal and Chan 2001). The amount and composition of crop residues are directly affected by crop species, and also by agricultural practices such as fertilization or irrigation. An increase of crop residues could improve N use efficiency and reduce N losses (Blanco-Canqui 2010). However, as it has been already mentioned in section 2.1.1, under rainfed conditions, the low availability of crop residues reduces the potential for C storage (Blanco-Canqui et al. 2011; Stockmann et al. 2013). As a consequence, in drylands, it is important to develop an integrated strategy to

maintain and manage crop residues according to plant and soil biodiversity and economics.

The soil microbial community is an indicator of soil quality and soil fertility, and its functional diversity and changes deserve further study (Dalal and Chan 2001). The microbial community has the capacity of suppressing the impacts of pathogens (Verhulst et al. 2010) and directly affects SOC dynamics. Moreover, other important indicators of soil biological activity such as earthworm abundance and community composition result in larger and interconnected pores increasing water infiltration (Verhulst et al. 2010), a fact that has a direct effect on C inputs to the soil, microbial activity, and SOC decomposition. Other organisms such as arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi play an important role in nutrient acquisition, drought resistance, and maintenance of soil stable aggregates (Oehl et al. 2005; Sanderson et al. 2013).

A reduction in cropping intensification decreases species diversity and plant biomass and could lead to the reduction of the loss of natural resources (Tongway and Hindley 2004). In dryland agricultural systems, crop rotations, cover crops, crop residue retention, and conservation agriculture increase water use efficiency, biomass production, and SOC and have a direct impact on biodiversity and different ecosystem services such as weed seed predation (Baraibar et al. 2011), abundance and distribution of a broad range of soil organisms (Buckerfield et al. 1997; Henneron et al. 2015; Sapkota et al. 2012), or bird nesting density and success (Van Beek et al. 2014). On the other hand, there are some complex interactions that determine crop productivity and C storage in soils, making difficult the observation of real patterns and the development of management recommendations (Corsi et al. 2012). Then, before establishing the degree of ecological intensification to be applied in dryland agroecosystems, it is needed to determine how the interactions between soil microbial diversity, plant communities, and cropping practices can improve productivity and affect SOC (Duffy 2009; Zavaleta et al. 2010). The use of various management practices (e.g., polycultures, crop rotations, agroforestry, reduction of tillage, etc.) enhances the positive feedback existing between soil carbon sequestration and biodiversity in rainfed farming systems.

2.2 Adoption of more efficient water management practices

The productivity of dryland agricultural systems is hindered by the water deficit created by the difference between precipitation and potential evapotranspiration. Given the irregularity of rainfall in most dryland areas, there is a strong need to develop regional decision tools to establish the most appropriate agricultural management strategies (i.e., choice of crop, sowing time, management of soil cover, timings and rates of N application, etc.) according to the amount of water held in the soil. Implementing proper decisions would increase the amount of biomass produced and SOC sequestered. To achieve this objective, the information obtained in long-term field trials is essential for improving current knowledge. To increase the amount of biomass produced and, consequently, the above- and belowground inputs of C to the soil, the amount of plant available water needs to be enhanced. To accomplish this, three factors need to be maximized: (i) precipitation capture; (ii) water retention in the soil, and (iii) crop water use efficiency (Peterson and Westfall 2004). The amount of precipitation captured is strongly related to soil structural stability and to the abundance and continuity of macropores in the soil surface. Agricultural management practices play a major role on the buildup and breakdown of soil surface aggregates (Plaza-Bonilla et al. 2013b), thus directly affecting soil structure. In dryland areas, soil aggregate stability needs to be maximized to guarantee (i) a continuous network of soil macropores and (ii) a durable physical protection of SOC against microbial decomposition. The accumulation of C in the soil surface (i.e., C stratification) as a consequence of the use of different agricultural practices (e.g., no-tillage, biochar addition) usually improves water infiltration and saturated hydraulic conductivity (Franzluebbers 2002; Jordán et al. 2010). Recent advances in X-ray computed tomography are increasing our knowledge about soil structure and the impacts of agricultural management on soil macroporosity (Perret et al. 1999). Other tools such as the measurement of soil sorptivity are used to assess the potential of soil to capture rainfall (Shaver et al. 2013). Nevertheless, with the current knowledge, it is still difficult to develop tools (i.e., models) that quantify with precision the impact of agricultural management on the dynamics of the soil porous network (Pachepsky and Rawls 2003). The development of these models would be of great interest to identify the best practices to capture rainfall in dryland areas as a function of soil characteristics. Another important strategy to enhance the amount of water retained in the soil is rainwater harvesting, which consists in collecting and storing runoff water in shallow troughs. This system is widely used in developing countries and in specific tree-cropping systems in some developed ones (FAO, 2004). A thorough review about the implementation of rainwater harvesting techniques in the sub-Saharan Africa can be found in Vohland and Barry (2009).

Once water has infiltrated into the soil profile, the efforts must be placed on its retention. In dryland areas, maintaining the soil surface covered is critical to preserve water (Montenegro et al. 2013). Different cropping technologies have been proposed in order to increase soil water retention. Traditionally, fallow has been used in dryland areas to increase soil water content, N availability, and weed control. Many studies have pointed out the inefficiency of this practice in terms of water storage. Thus, the works by Lampurlanés et al. (2002) and Hansen et al. (2012) showed that only 10–35 % of the rainfall received was available for the next crop



when fallow was included in the rotation. Water is lost during fallow periods due to evaporation given (i) the low amount of residues covering the soil surface and (ii) the frequent use of tillage to eliminate weeds in most of the dryland agroecosystems. Thus, research has also been oriented to reduce bare fallow periods by intensifying cropping systems and the use of green manures such as legumes. According to Álvaro-Fuentes et al. (2008), the suppression of longfallowing leads to an improvement of soil structural stability, thus increasing water infiltration and retention. Moreover, when fallow is eliminated, C inputs are increased due to a higher production of biomass which enhances the amount of SOC sequestered (Álvaro-Fuentes et al. 2009b; Virto et al. 2012). However, in areas with a high water deficit, the benefits of using cover crops as green manure are offset by water lost for subsequent cash crops (Hansen et al. 2012). The use of legumes as green manure could also have a detrimental impact on SOC as it has been discussed in the previous section.

The use of conservation tillage systems such as reduced tillage or no-tillage has been pointed out as one of the most promising strategies to enhance SOC stocks in dryland areas due to its beneficial effect on soil water storage (Fig. 1), which results in turn in greater biomass production and higher C protection within soil aggregates (Aguilera et al. 2013a). Significant rates of C sequestration have been reported in different dryland cropping systems when using no-tillage. For instance, Vågen et al. (2005) reported a rate of 0.05 to 0.36 Mg C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in sub-Saharan Africa while Farina et al. (2011) reported a rate of 0.31 Mg C ha⁻¹ year⁻¹ in a no-till sunflower-wheat rotation in Italy.

However, the general hypothesis that no-till is always followed by SOC sequestration is still controversial since in most of the studies comparing the effects of different tillage systems on soil C, only the surface soil (0-30-cm depth) has been taken into account (Govaerts et al. 2009; Palm et al. 2013). Furthermore, attention has to be paid to a possible increase in the emission of N2O when using low-intensity soil management systems, as a result of the greater amount of water stored in the soil. That increase could offset the amount of C sequestered under reduced tillage and no-tillage, since N₂O has a global warming potential 298 times greater than CO₂ (Six et al. 2004). However, recent works have found lower N₂O emissions when no-tillage is practiced in the long term due to a reduction of anaerobic microsites in the soil (Plaza-Bonilla et al. 2014; van Kessel et al. 2013). These last aspects indicate that future research must take into account the whole C footprint associated to the long-term effects of agricultural practices on greenhouse gas emissions in dryland soils, taking advantage of long-term field experiments and properly validated models.

Once retained in the soil, water needs to be used efficiently by plants, a process that can be improved by using a proper crop management and election of plant material. Drought-

2 Springer



prone environments need specific breeding programs in order to find traits related to an efficient water use through stomatal transpiration (Blum 2005). For instance, an improved stomatal control, higher photosynthetic rates, and increased stay green have been enumerated in new drought-tolerant corn cultivars (Roth et al. 2013). Similarly, the improvement of root systems to enhance water use in dryland environments remains a critical issue (Hall and Richards 2013). The selection for more adapted root systems would also impact positively on C sequestration, since belowground biomass constitutes an essential input of C to the soil, given its longer time of residence compared with the aerial biomass inputs (Rasse et al. 2005). There also is an urgent need to identify genotypes with traits better adapted to no-tillage conditions, such as a more vigorous emergence or a higher resistance to different diseases (Herrera et al. 2013).

Crop water use is significantly affected by other management practices such as crop fertilization, which affects leaf area and transpiration. In drylands, the use of fertilizers is not always followed by an increase of SOC stocks due to the low crop response to the application of nutrients such as N as a consequence of lack of water. As a result, in dryland agriculture, the effects of N fertilization on SOC usually appear in the long term (Álvaro-Fuentes et al. 2012) and still are a controversial issue (Khan et al. 2007), especially if the energy cost associated with the N fertilizer production is taken into account. In this context, the use of organic fertilizers (i.e., slurries or manures), which is a common practice in some drylands, has the potential to increase SOC stocks and C physical protection within soil aggregates (Plaza-Bonilla et al. 2013a). However, this strategy is only applicable in certain developed areas with nutrient surpluses. Another recent work shows a decrease in N₂O emissions when using organic fertilizers in comparison with the use of synthetic products in dryland areas (Aguilera et al. 2013b).

Maximizing soil water availability for plants is of paramount importance in dryland areas for enhancing C sequestration in soils. To achieve this, long bare fallow periods need to be suppressed and soil tillage must be reduced or eliminated.

2.3 Livestock integration into dryland farming systems

The impact of livestock activities on the environment is either direct like grazing (in extensive livestock systems) or indirect through production of forage crops for confined livestock feeding. Presently, livestock production accounts for 70 % of all world agricultural land and 30 % of the Earth's land area (Steinfeld et al. 2006). In relation to ecological conditions and environmental changes, the increase in the demand of animal products will affect more intensely grasslands in arid, semiarid, and tropical regions (Follett and Schuman 2005) (Fig. 2). Despite the inherently low SOC sequestration rates that have

been reported in grasslands when compared with other land uses, their global impact can be significant given the surface covered by this land use (Follett and Schuman 2005). The potential C storage in grasslands varies according to climatic conditions and management (Silver et al. 2010). For instance, the last authors reported soil C contents of 200 Mg C ha⁻¹ in the first 100-cm soil depth in annual grass-dominated rangelands in California.

Soil C can be affected by more than one process when grasslands are used for grazing: soil compaction, a decrease of standing biomass, diminution of vegetation coverage, changes in root biomass, and potential increases in erosive processes (Jing et al. 2014). Conflicting results have been reported regarding the effect of grazing intensity on SOC. While some authors found an increase in SOC stock with intensively managed grasslands (Conant et al. 2003; Reeder et al. 2004), others concluded that high stocking rates reduce the aboveground grass biomass and, as a consequence, diminish soil C stocks, which affect the labile fractions such as the particulate organic matter (Silveira et al. 2013; Smith et al. 2014). Regarding to this subject, Han et al. (2008) observed a decrease of 33 and 24 % in SOC and total N (0-30-cm depth), respectively, under heavy grazing when compared to light grazing in a semiarid continental steppe in northeastern Inner Mongolia. These results were confirmed by Steffens et al. (2008), who found a deterioration of different soil properties including organic carbon in a heavily grazed steppe in the same semiarid region. Furthermore, the intensity of grazing can also influence soil inorganic carbon dynamics. Reeder et al. (2004) reported an increase of soil inorganic carbon of 10.3 Mg ha⁻¹ in the 45- to 90-cm depth of a heavily grazed treatment compared to its exclosure in an experiment carried out in the Central Plains of the USA. However, in this study, the authors were not able to distinguish whether the increase in soil inorganic carbon represented newly fixed C or a redistribution of the existing material.

The type of grazing can also influence SOC content. For instance, the multi-paddock system usually leads to greater C contents than the light continuous system (Teague et al. 2011). A synthesis of the effects of grazing on SOC stocks can be found in the work of Pineiro et al. (2010). Proper grazing management should maintain a favorable C balance in the ecosystem versus haymaking or combined practices (Oates and Jackson 2014; Ziter and MacDougall 2013). For example, the use of conservative practices to avoid overgrazing or to fence plots has represented a solution to erosion damages in Chinese grasslands (Fang et al. 2010; Han et al. 2008).

Domestic herbivores tend to uncouple C and N cycles by releasing digestible C as CO_2 and CH_4 , and by returning digestible N at high concentrations in urine patches. The latter aspect is directly linked to the stocking rate and the period of grazing, and can potentially increase the emissions of N_2O (Soussana and Lemaire 2014). The use of short grazing

periods or nitrification inhibitors has been reported to lower N_2O emissions from urine patches (Li et al. 2013). However, the effectiveness of nitrification inhibitors is arguable given the spatial and temporal heterogeneity of the urine patches in grazed systems.

The rapid population growth after the Second World War and the increase in the demand of animal products has facilitated the transformation of natural vegetation to arable land to produce feed for animals. Traditionally, extensive livestock production was based in local available feed resources such as crop residues and rough vegetation that had no value as human food. The conversion of pastures to arable crops caused changes in soil C distribution due to soil aggregation disturbance and changes in crop residue inputs and decomposability, thus resulting in C losses (Matos et al. 2011; Su 2007). A study conducted in 27 European soils quantified C losses when grasslands were converted to croplands (i.e., a loss of 19 ± 7 Mg C ha⁻¹), and an accumulation of $18\pm$ 7 Mg C ha^{-1} when cropland was converted to grassland (Poeplau and Don 2013). Similarly, in a study about the potential for soil C sequestration in Central Asia, Sommer and de Pauw (2011) pointed out that the conversion of native land into agricultural land and the degradation of rangelands led to a loss of 4.1 % of the total SOC pool. In turn, global warming and drought in grasslands will change the physiology of grassland species and, consequently, the SOC balance (Sanaullah et al. 2014). In Europe (the EU25 plus Norway and Switzerland), some predictions suggest that cropland SOC stocks from 1990 to 2080 would decrease by 39 to 54 %, and grassland SOC stock could increase up to 25 % under the baseline scenario, but could decrease by 20-44 % under other scenarios (Smith et al. 2005).

Current knowledge about the synergies and trade-offs in adaptation and mitigation strategies in grasslands is still limited and requires further research (Soussana et al. 2013). In this regard, three specific actions are suggested: (i) in all cases, grazing management should be adapted to increase the resilience of plant communities to climatic variability (Su 2007), (ii) special attention should be paid to the improvement of agro-silvo-pastoral systems (Gómez-Rey et al. 2012), and (iii) natural margins should be considered due to their role in SOC sequestration (D'Acunto et al. 2014; Francaviglia et al. 2014).

2.4 Climate change adaptation and mitigation

In the agricultural and forestry sectors, climate change adaptation refers to the adoption of practices that minimize the adverse effects of climate change, while mitigation deals with the reduction of greenhouse gas emissions from agricultural and animal husbandry sources and the increase in soil C sequestration. Since the mid-eighteenth century, anthropogenic activities have contributed 169 Gt CO_2 , 43 % of which have



accumulated in the atmosphere (IPCC 2013). Raising atmospheric CO₂ levels favors plant photosynthesis and also the reduction in stomatal conductance, which in turn promotes higher water use efficiency (Ko et al. 2012). The increase in water use efficiency may be hindered by the rise in canopy temperature expected under CO₂ enrichment, resulting in higher leaf transpiration (Kimball et al. 2002). Despite this latter process, results from different free-air concentration enrichment (FACE) experiments have demonstrated the positive general effect of rising atmospheric CO₂ levels on plant production, especially in C3 crops (Ainsworth and Long 2005; Long et al. 2006). Likewise, it has been demonstrated that the increase in plant production under CO₂ enrichment conditions has a direct impact on C dynamics, and particularly on longterm SOC storage if accompanied with increased inputs or reduced losses of N, although not all FACE experiments have reported a final increase in SOC (Prior et al. 2005; van Groenigen et al. 2006).

However, under climate change conditions, the C cycle in agricultural systems will not only be affected by the increase in atmospheric CO_2 concentration, but also by the predicted changes in other variables (i.e., amount and intensity of rainfall) and also by the management practices implemented. In particular, for dryland areas, general circulation models predict significant increases in mean surface temperatures and expected decreases in total annual precipitation with both changes in the seasonal distribution pattern and higher occurrence of extreme events (Gao et al. 2006; IPCC 2013). Consequently, in dryland agroecosystems, the predicted changes in climate will likely condition the positive response found in some FACE experiments between CO_2 enrichment and SOC levels (Dijkstra and Morgan 2012; Liebig et al. 2012).

Crop growth and productivity respond to changes in surface temperature. Although this response can be either positive or negative (Wilcox and Makowski 2014), in southern latitudes and semiarid areas, acceleration of maturation and/ or heat stress due to warming can have negative impacts on crop production (Lavalle et al. 2009), thus offsetting the potential gain in SOC stocks expected under CO₂ enrichment. In some African countries, for example, crop yields could be reduced by 50 % by 2020 (Marks et al. 2009). Limited information exists in the literature about the interactive effects of warming and CO₂ increases in C dynamics in agricultural systems. The few available studies show that warming increases SOC losses due to the acceleration of soil organic matter decomposition (Dijkstra and Morgan 2012; Liebig et al. 2012). However, the increase in surface temperatures may also increase soil drying. This is critical in dryland agroecosystems in which soil water availability is the most limiting factor for C dynamics. Thus, the warming effect on soil water content, together with the general decrease in precipitation predicted by climate models for dryland areas, may result in situations of extremely limited soil water supply. The



impact of low water availability in dryland areas on soil C is shown in the work of Li et al. (2015), who estimated a loss of 0.46 Pg C in Central Asia drylands during the 10-year drought period from 1998 to 2008, possibly related to extended La Niña episodes. Decreases in soil moisture limit microbial activity and, thus, soil organic matter decomposition (Skopp et al. 1990). Indeed, acceleration of microbial activity as a response of warming might be offset by exceptionally limited soil moisture (Almagro et al. 2009). However, the adoption of certain management practices could ameliorate this situation by increasing soil water available for crop growth and microbial activity. One main strategy would be tillage systems and in particular decreasing soil tillage intensity, since it has been identified as a promising management strategy to increase soil water content in dryland systems (Cantero-Martínez et al. 2007). Under a climate change scenario, the complete elimination of tillage through the adoption of no-tillage could help to maintain or even to increase crop growth and, thus, C inputs into the soil. But, it is important to consider that depending on the warming and drought extent, the adoption of this technique could stimulate soil C losses, due to an acceleration of soil microbial activity, which may not be compensated by the increase in C inputs. This last situation would imply C losses under no-tillage systems. Simulation studies in dryland systems under different climate change scenarios predicted future increases in SOC under no-tillage (Álvaro-Fuentes and Paustian 2011). Obviously, more experimental data is needed to determine the effect of no-tillage and other management practices on soil C changes under climate change conditions.

2.5 Social and economic barriers and opportunities

Drylands sustain over 2 billion people and contribute to climate change mitigation (Neely et al. 2009). Environmental and social co-benefits resulting from increased soil C sequestration in drylands can increase agroecosystems' resilience and decrease social vulnerability to disasters and climate variability (Lipper et al. 2010). Past investments in drylands focused on improved land productivity by expansion of irrigated areas. This approach is unsustainable in most agricultural areas. Furthermore, dryland policies need to consider poverty reduction and environmental benefits.

2.5.1 Improved management viewed as an externality

Soils in dryland areas have potential social and economic benefits to improve sustainability of agricultural systems, environmental restoration, and poverty alleviation. Evidence for the benefits for increasing dryland C is clear at the local (i.e., increased crop productivity), regional (i.e., enhanced agricultural sustainability), and global levels (i.e., mitigation of climate change). As a consequence, the resulting benefits of the actions of farmers may produce positive externalities on other stakeholders and may take effect in the present or future.

The presence of externalities implies the need for policy interventions to ensure that improved C management is produced at the social optimum. Policy may provide incentives to farmers to produce this social optimum through various mechanisms, such as improved technical knowledge at the farmer level or improved carbon trading schemes. Understanding uncertainty and how to evaluate the future benefits is a major challenge and includes defining the value that we give future goods.

2.5.2 Measures at farmer level and policy support

At the farmer level, the main barriers are the initial investments. These investments are difficult to quantify, ranging from additional machinery to improved knowledge. The expected benefits at the farmer level may be insufficient to compensate farmers for the direct initial costs. Therefore, policy interventions are necessary. In regions where agriculture is heavily supported by policy (i.e., Europe, USA, Australia), most studies conclude that subsidies are necessary. In regions where farmers do not receive direct support, substantial funds from development organizations or C investors will be necessary in order to make soil C sequestration projects in dryland small-scale farming systems a reality (Neely et al. 2009).

In the short term, changes in management are implemented first by the most interested, motivated, and innovative farmers, that are often the ones that have other social and economic advantages. Marginal farmers are usually reluctant to participate in innovative programs and need different types of policy support. In the long term, the potential benefit of management practices that enhance C sequestration can be reversed as soon as they are abandoned. This might occur either as a consequence of natural hazards (such as a large drought), decreased policy support, or perspective of larger profits with another management alternative.

The success of a long-term and large-scale C sequestration program in drylands relies on the implementation by a large number of farmers. Top-down policy programs may only be successful if they provide financial incentives for implementation. At the same time, a program may build on already existing local and/or regional initiatives by farmers associations, for example. This would ensure that the measures proposed are supported by a large number of individuals.

2.5.3 Mainstreaming global development policies with C sequestration in drylands

The process of land degradation in drylands also means that C stored in these ecosystems will be added to the atmosphere as greenhouse gas emissions. It is also clear that extensive land degradation in drylands may contribute to poverty increase in

many regions. A purely carbon-market approach is unlikely to be successful for drylands since the approach needs to consider other aspects such as sustainable development and poverty alleviation. Then, the adoption of carbon management strategies, which aims also at providing important co-benefits (e.g., climate change adaptation, biodiversity, plant nutrition, etc.) will gain more attraction in the mid- and long-term perspective. Sustainable carbon sequestration policies must act locally at the scale of the small shareholder or village, and focus on the ecosystem services rather than on C sequestration solely (Marks et al. 2009).

Therefore, dryland C improvement policies are included into global development policies. This process is often referred to as mainstreaming, which is funded under other policies and could also be used to fund C sequestration programs in drylands. For example, the Convention to Combat Desertification (CCD) and the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) share the goal of improved management of C in drylands and poverty alleviation. As a consequence, there is a range of global policy mechanisms to promote dryland C storage for alleviation of poverty in least developed countries, such as the UN Global Mechanism program and the Global Environment Facility (GEF) land degradation focal area or the GEF Adaptation Fund (FAO 2004).

A key element of soil rehabilitation in drylands is the restoration of organic matter which has been widely depleted due to tillage, overgrazing, and deforestation (see preceding sections). The Clean Development Mechanism of the Kyoto Protocol does not include the possibility of payments for C sequestration in soils. However, other markets in carbon are being developed, which could enable developing countries to benefit from carbon trading for soil organic matter (Lipper et al. 2010).

3 Conclusions

Dryland areas comprise about 41 % of the Earth surface and sustain over 38 % of the world's human population. A meaningful fraction of C in dryland soils has been lost as a consequence of inadequate management practices and land use decisions. Global warming will exacerbate the current scarcity of water that most dryland areas face, thus adding great challenges for agricultural production and social development. However, with proper decisions, soils in dryland areas have a large potential to sequester C and will result in positive regional and global externalities.

Over the next decade, research on C management in dryland areas should focus on proper agricultural and livestock management practices that maximize C storage in soils taking into account their entire C footprint. Raising CO₂ levels and concomitant warming could also lead to heat stress that could offset the potential gain in SOC stocks expected under CO₂



enrichment conditions. Precipitation capture, water retention in the soil, and crop water use efficiency need to be maximized to guarantee an adequate soil cover and reduce soil erosion susceptibility. A range of agronomic practices such as crop residue management, soil management and fertilization, adequate design of cropping systems, and the availability of adapted plant material can help to increase soil C sequestration in water-limited environments. Livestock integration in dryland systems must be optimized to couple the C and N cycles and to take profit of the greater residence time of the C sequestered at soil depth. Future research should focus on the feedbacks between soil biodiversity and C cycling in order to enhance ecosystem services. Moreover, the areas of study must be upscaled in order to better represent complex landscape processes affecting C sequestration and to improve the comprehension of the interactive effects of management and global warming on C cycling in soils. Policy support should generate possibilities to strengthen farmers' own strategies to deal with uncertainty while providing the necessary incentives to encourage successful C management pathways including an improved knowledge at the farmer level and strengthen the linkage between environmental and social sciences. The objective of sequestering a significant amount of C in dryland soils is attainable and will result in social and environmental benefits.

Acknowledgments This work has been partially supported by the Spanish Ministry of Economy and Competitiveness (grants AGL 2013-49062-C4-1-R and AGL 2013-49062-C4-4-R). The valuable comments of two anonymous reviewers have greatly improved the quality of this manuscript.

Open Access This article is distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License which permits any use, distribution, and reproduction in any medium, provided the original author(s) and the source are credited.

References

- Agren GI, Bosatta E (1996) Quality: a bridge between theory and experiment in soil organic matter studies. Oikos 76:522–528. doi:10. 2307/3546345
- Aguilera E, Lassaletta L, Gattinger A, Gimeno BS (2013a) Managing soil carbon for climate change mitigation and adaptation in Mediterranean cropping systems: a meta-analysis. Agric Ecosyst Environ 168:25–36. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2013.02.003
- Aguilera E, Lassaletta L, Sanz-Cobena A, Garnier J, Vallejo A (2013b) The potential of organic fertilizers and water management to reduce N₂O emissions in Mediterranean climate cropping systems. A review. Agric Ecosyst Environ 164:32–52. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2012. 09.006
- Ainsworth EA, Long SP (2005) What have we learned from 15 years of free-air CO₂ enrichment (FACE)? A meta-analytic review of the responses of photosynthesis, canopy. New Phytol 165:351–371. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01224.x
- Almagro M, López J, Querejeta JI, Martínez-Mena M (2009) Temperature dependence of soil CO₂ efflux is strongly modulated

2 Springer



by seasonal patterns of moisture availability in a Mediterranean ecosystem. Soil Biol Biochem 41:594–605. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio. 2008.12.021

- Álvaro-Fuentes J, Paustian K (2011) Potential soil carbon sequestration in a semiarid Mediterranean agroecosystem under climate change: quantifying management and climate effects. Plant Soil 338:261– 272. doi:10.1007/s11104-010-0304-7
- Álvaro-Fuentes J, Arrúe JL, Gracia R, López MV (2008) Tillage and cropping intensification effects on soil aggregation: temporal dynamics and controlling factors under semiarid conditions. Geoderma 145:390–396. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2008.04.005
- Álvaro-Fuentes J, Lampurlanés J, Cantero-Martínez C (2009a) Alternative crop rotations under Mediterranean no-tillage conditions: biomass, grain yield, and water-use efficiency. Agron J 101: 1227–1233. doi:10.2134/agronj2009.0077
- Álvaro-Fuentes J, López MV, Arrúe JL, Moret D, Paustian K (2009b) Tillage and cropping effects on soil organic carbon in Mediterranean semiarid agroecosystems: testing the Century model. Agric Ecosyst Environ 134:211–217. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2009.07.001
- Álvaro-Fuentes J, Morell FJ, Plaza-Bonilla D, Arrúe JL, Cantero-Martínez C (2012) Modelling tillage and nitrogen fertilization effects on soil organic carbon dynamics. Soil Tillage Res 120:32–39. doi:10.1016/j.sti11.2012.01.009
- Artiola JF, Walworth JL (2009) Irrigation water quality effects on soil carbon fractionation and organic carbon dissolution and leaching in a semiarid calcareous soil. Soil Sci 174:365–371. doi:10.1097/ SS.0b013e3181aea7b4
- Baraibar B, Carrión E, Recasens J, Westerman PR (2011) Unravelling the process of weed seed predation: developing options for better weed control. Biol Control 56:85–90. doi:10.1016/j.biocontrol.2010.09. 010
- Bationo A, Wani SP, Bielders CL, Vlek PLG, Mokwunye AU (2000) Crop residue and fertilizer management to improve soil organic carbon content, soil quality and productivity in the desert margins of West Africa. In: Lal R, Kimble JM, Stewart BA (eds). Global climate change and tropical ecosystems. Advances in Soil Science pp 117-145 CRC Press. ISBN 1-56670-485-5.
- Blanco-Canqui H (2010) Energy crops and their implications on soil and environment. Agron J 102:403–419. doi:10.2134/ agronj2009.0333
- Blanco-Canqui H, Klocke NL, Schlegel AJ, Stone LR, Rice CW (2010) Impacts of deficit irrigation on carbon sequestration and soil physical properties under no-till. Soil Sci Soc Am J 74:1301–1309. doi: 10.2136/sssaj2009.0364
- Blanco-Canqui H, Schlegel AJ, Heer WF (2011) Soil-profile distribution of carbon and associated properties in no-till along a precipitation gradient in the central Great Plains. Agric Ecosyst Environ 144:107– 116. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2011.07.004
- Blum A (2005) Drought resistance, water-use efficiency, and yield potential—are they compatible, dissonant, or mutually exclusive? Aust J Agric Res 56:1159–1168. doi:10.1071/ar05069
- Boix-Fayos C, Calvo-Cases A, Imeson AC (2001) Influence of soil properties on the aggregation of some Mediterranean soils and the use of aggregate size and stability as land degradation indicators. Catena 44:47–67. doi:10.1016/S0341-8162(00)00176-4
- Bronick CJ, Lal R (2005) Soil structure and management: a review. Geoderma 124:3–22. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2004.03.005
- Buckerfield JC, Lee KE, Davoren CW, Hannay JN (1997) Earthworms as indicators of sustainable production in dryland cropping in southern Australia. Soil Biol Biochem 29:547–554. doi:10.1016/s0038-0717(96)00033-8
- Cantero-Martínez C, Angás P, Lampurlanés J (2007) Long-term yield and water use efficiency under various tillage systems in Mediterranean rainfed conditions. Ann Appl Biol 150:293–305. doi:10.1111/j. 1744-7348.2007.00142.x

- Cassman KG (1999) Ecological intensification of cereal production systems: yield potential, soil quality, and precision agriculture. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 96:5952–5959. doi:10.1073/pnas.96.11.5952
- Cihacek LJ, Ulmer MG (2002) Effects of tillage on inorganic carbon storage in soils of the northern Great Plains of the US. In: Kimble J, Lal R, Follett R (eds) Agricultural practices and policies for carbon sequestration in soil. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 63–69
- Clough A, Skjemstad JO (2000) Physical and chemical protection of soil organic carbon in three agricultural soils with different contents of calcium carbonate. Aust J Soil Res 38:1005–1016. doi:10.1071/ SR99102
- Conant RT, Six J, Paustian K (2003) Land use effects on soil carbon fractions in the southeastern United States. I. Managementintensive versus extensive grazing. Biol Fertil Soils 38:386–392. doi:10.1007/s00374-003-0652-z
- Corsi S, Friedrich T, Kassam A, Pisante M, de Moraes Sà J (2012) Soil organic carbon accumulation and greenhouse gas emission reductions from conservation agriculture: a literature review. Integrated Crop Management Vol. 16-2012. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome. Available at: http://www.fao.org/documents/card/es/c/ac18b764-8944-56d4b649-080cc0034c3c/
- D'Acunto L, Semmartin M, Ghersa C (2014) Uncropped field magins to mitigate soil carbon losses in agricultural landscapes. Agric Ecosyst Environ 183:60–68
- Dalal RC, Chan KY (2001) Soil organic matter in rainfed cropping systems of the Australian cereal belt. Aust J Soil Res 39:435–464. doi: 10.1071/sr99042
- Delgado JA, Nearing MA, Rice CW (2013) Conservation practices for climate change adaptation. Adv Agron 121:47–115. doi:10.1016/ b978-0-12-407685-3.00002-5
- Denef K, Stewart CE, Brenner J, Paustian K (2008) Does long-term center-pivot irrigation increase soil carbon stocks in semi-arid agro-ecosystems? Geoderma 145:121–129. doi:10.1016/j. geoderma.2008.03.002
- Denef K, Archibeque S, Paustian K (2011) Greenhouse gas emissions from U.S. agriculture and forestry: a review of emission sources, controlling factors, and mitigation potential. Interim report to USDA under Contract#GS23F8182H. ICF International and Colorado State University, USA
- Dijkstra F, Morgan J (2012) Elevated CO₂ and warming effects on soil carbon sequestration and greenhouse gas exchange in agroecosystems: a review. In: Liebig M, Franzluebbers A, Follett R (eds) Managing Agricultural Greenhouse Gases. Academic Press, pp.467-486
- Duffy JE (2009) Why biodiversity is important to the functioning of realworld ecosystems. Front Ecol Environ 7:437–444. doi:10.1890/ 070195
- Entry JA, Sojka RE, Shewmaker GE (2004) Irrigation increases inorganic carbon in agricultural soils. Environ Manag 33:S309–S317. doi:10. 1007/s00267-003-9140-3
- Eshel G, Fine P, Singer MJ (2007) Total soil carbon and water quality: an implication for carbon sequestration. Soil Sci Soc Am J 71:397–405. doi:10.2136/sssaj2006.0061
- Fang J, Yang Y, Ma W, Mohammat A, Shen H (2010) Ecosystem carbon stocks and their changes in China's grasslands. Sci China Life Sci 53:757–765. doi:10.1007/s11427-010-4029-x
- FAO (2004) Carbon sequestration in dryland soils. World Soil Resources Reports 102. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome
- Farina R, Seddaiu G, Orsini R, Steglich E, Roggero PP, Francaviglia R (2011) Soil carbon dynamics and crop productivity as influenced by climate change in a rainfed cereal system under contrasting tillage using EPIC. Soil Tillage Res 112:36–46. doi:10.1016/j.still.2010.11. 002

- Follett RF (2001) Soil management concepts and carbon sequestration in cropland soils. Soil Tillage Res 61:77–92
- Follett RF, Schuman GE (2005) Grazing land contributions to carbon sequestration. In: McGilloway DA (ed) Grassland: a global resource. Plenary and invited papers from the XX International Grassland Congress, Dublin, Ireland.Wageningen Academic Publishers, Wageningen, The Netherlands, pp 265-277
- Francaviglia R, Benedetti A, Doro L, Madrau S, Ledda L (2014) Influence of land use on soil quality and stratification ratios under agro-silvo-pastoral Mediterranean management systems. Agric Ecosyst Environ 183:86–92
- Franzluebbers AJ (2002) Water infiltration and soil structure related to organic matter and its stratification with depth. Soil Tillage Res 66: 197–205. doi:10.1016/s0167-1987(02)00027-2
- Fu GB, Chen SL, McCool DK (2006) Modeling the impacts of no-till practice on soil erosion and sediment yield with RUSLE, SEDD and ArcView GIS. Soil Tillage Res 85:38–49. doi:10.1016/j.still.2004. 11.009
- Gao XJ, Pal JS, Giorgi F (2006) Projected changes in mean and extreme precipitation over the Mediterranean region from a high resolution double nested RCM simulation. Geophys Res Lett 33. doi: 10.1029/ 2005gl024954
- García-Ruiz JM (2010) The effects of land uses on soil erosion in Spain: a review. Catena 81:1–11. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2010.01.001
- German Agency for Technical Cooperation (1998) Conserving natural resources and enhancing food security by adopting no-tillage: an assessment of the potential for soil-conserving production systems in various agro-ecological zones of Africa. TOV Publ. TOB F-5/e. GTZ, Eschborn, Germany
- Gómez JA, Giráldez JV, Pastor M, Fereres E (1999) Effects of tillage method on soil physical properties, infiltration and yield in an olive orchard. Soil Tillage Res 52:167–175. doi:10.1016/s0167-1987(99) 00078-1
- Gómez-Rey MX, Garcés A, Madeira M (2012) Soil organic-C accumulation and N availability under improved pastures established in Mediterranean oak woodlands. Soil Use Manag 28:497–507. doi: 10.1111/j.1475-2743.2012.00428.x
- Govaerts B, Verhulst N, Castellanos-Navarrete A, Sayre KD, Dixon J, Dendooven L (2009) Conservation agriculture and soil carbon sequestration: between myth and farmer reality. Crit Rev Plant Sci 28: 97–122. doi:10.1080/07352680902776358
- Hall AJ, Richards RA (2013) Prognosis for genetic improvement of yield potential and water-limited yield of major grain crops. Field Crop Res 143:18–33. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2012.05.014
- Halvorson AD, Schlegel AJ (2012) Crop rotation effect on soil carbon and nitrogen stocks under limited irrigation. Agron J 104:1265– 1273. doi:10.2134/agronj2012.0113
- Han G, Hao X, Zhao M, Wang M, Ellert BH, Willms W, Wang M (2008) Effect of grazing intensity on carbon and nitrogen in soil and vegetation in a meadow steppe in Inner Mongolia. Agric Ecosyst Environ 125:21–32. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2007.11.009
- Hansen NC, Allen BL, Baumhardt RL, Lyon DJ (2012) Research achievements and adoption of no-till, dryland cropping in the semi-arid US Great Plains. Field Crop Res 132. doi: 10.1016/j.fcr. 2012.02.021
- Henneron L, Bernard L, Hedde M, Pelosi C, Villenave C, Chenu C, Bertrand M, Girardin C, Blanchart E (2015) Fourteen years of evidence for positive effects of conservation agriculture and organic farming on soil life. Agron Sustain Dev 35:169–181
- Henry WB, Nielsen DC, Vigil MF, Calderón FJ, West MS (2008) Proso millet yield and residue mass following direct harvest with a stripper-header. Agron J 100:580–584. doi:10.2134/agronj2007.0268
- Herrera JM, Verhulst N, Trethowan RM, Stamp P, Govaerts B (2013) Insights into genotype x tillage interaction effects on the grain yield of wheat and maize. Crop Sci 53:1845–1859. doi:10.2135/ cropsci2013.01.0071



- Hoffmann C, Funk R, Li Y, Sommer M (2008) Effect of grazing on wind driven carbon and nitrogen ratios in the grasslands of Inner Mongolia. Catena 75:182–190. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2008.06.003
- Hoyle FC, D'Antuono M, Overheu T, Murphy DV (2013) Capacity for increasing soil organic carbon stocks in dryland agricultural systems. Soil Res 51:657–667. doi:10.1071/sr12373
- IPCC (2013) The physical science basis. Contribution of working group I to the fifth assessment report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge
- Izaurralde RC, Williams JR, Post WM, Thomson AM, McGill WB, Owens LB, Lal R (2007) Long-term modeling of soil C erosion and sequestration at the small watershed scale. Clim Chang 80:73– 90. doi:10.1007/s10584-006-9167-6
- Jing Z, Cheng J, Su J, Bai Y, Jin J (2014) Changes in plant community composition and soil properties under 3-decade grazing exclusion in semiarid grassland. Ecol Eng 64:171–178
- Jobbagy EG, Jackson RB (2000) The vertical distribution of soil organic carbon and its relation to climate and vegetation. Ecol Appl 10:423– 436. doi:10.2307/2641104
- Jordán A, Zavala LM, Gil J (2010) Effects of mulching on soil physical properties and runoff under semi-arid conditions in southern Spain. Catena 81:77–85. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2010.01.007
- Kairis O, Karavitis C, Kounalaki A, Salvati L, Kosmas C (2013) The effect of land management practices on soil erosion and land desertification in an olive grove. Soil Use Manag 29:597–606. doi:10. 1111/sum.12074
- Khan SA, Mulvaney RL, Ellsworth TR, Boast CW (2007) The myth of nitrogen fertilization for soil carbon sequestration. J Environ Qual 36:1821–1832. doi:10.2134/jeq2007.0099
- Kimball BA, Kobayashi K, Bindi M (2002) Responses of agricultural crops to free-air CO₂ enrichment. Adv Agron 77:293–368. doi:10. 1016/s0065-2113(02)77017-x
- Ko J, Ahuja LR, Saseendran SA, Green TR, Ma L, Nielsen DC, Walthall CL (2012) Climate change impacts on dryland cropping systems in the Central Great Plains, USA. Clim Chang 111:445–472. doi:10. 1007/s10584-011-0175-9
- Kuhn NJ, Hoffmann T, Schwanghart W, Dotterweich M (2009) Agricultural soil erosion and global carbon cycle: controversy over? Earth Surf Proc Landf 34:1033–1038. doi:10.1002/esp.1796
- Kuhn NJ, van Oost K, Cammeraat E (2012) Soil erosion, sedimentation and the carbon cycle preface. Catena 94:1–2. doi:10.1016/j.catena. 2011.11.007
- Lahmar R, Bationo BA, Lamso ND, Guéro Y, Tittonell P (2012) Tailoring conservation agriculture technologies to West Africa semi-arid zones: building on traditional local practices for soil restoration. Field Crop Res 132:158–167. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2011.09.013
- Lal R (2001) Potential of desertification control to sequester carbon and mitigate the greenhouse effect. Clim Chang 51:35–72. doi:10.1023/a:1017529816140
- Lal R (2002) Carbon sequestration in dryland ecosystems of West Asia and North Africa. Land Degrad Dev 13:45–59
- Lal R (2004) Carbon sequestration in dryland ecosystems. Environ Manag 33:528–544. doi:10.1007/s00267-003-9110-9
- Lal R (2006) Enhancing crop yields in the developing countries through restoration of the soil organic carbon pool in agricultural lands. Land Degrad Dev 17:197–209. doi:10.1002/ldr.696
- Lal R, Kimble J (2000) Inorganic carbon and the global C cycles: research and development priorities. In: Lal R, Kimble J, Eswaran H, Stewart B (eds) Global climate change and pedogenic carbonates. CRC Press, Boca Raton, FL, USA, pp 291–302
- Lampurlanés J, Angás P, Cantero-Martínez C (2002) Tillage effects on water storage during fallow, and on barley root growth and yield in two contrasting soils of the semi-arid Segarra region in Spain. Soil Tillage Res 65:207–220
- Lavalle C, Micale F, Houston TD, Camia A, Hiederer R, Lazar C, Conte C, Amatulli G, Genovese G (2009) Climate change in Europe. 3.

 $\underline{\textcircled{O}}$ Springer



Impact on agriculture and forestry. A review. Agron Sustain Dev 29: 433–446. doi:10.1051/agro/2008068

- Li D, Watson CJ, Yan MJ, Lalor S, Rafique R, Hyde B, Lanigan G, Richards KG, Holden NM, Humphreys J (2013) A review of nitrous oxide mitigation by farm nitrogen management in temperate grassland-based agriculture. J Environ Manag 128:893–903. doi: 10.1016/j.jenvman.2013.06.026
- Li CF, Zhang C, Luo GP, Chen X, Maisupova B, Madaminov AA, Han QF, Djaenbaev BM (2015) Carbon stock and its responses to climate change in Central Asia. Glob Chang Biol 21:1951–1967. doi:10. 1111/gcb.12846
- Liebig MA, Franzluebbers AJ, Follett RF (eds) (2012) Managing agricultural greenhouse gases. Coordinated agricultural research through GRACEnet to address our changing climate. Academic Press, London
- Lipper L, Dutilly-Diane C, McCarthy N (2010) Supplying carbon sequestration from West African rangelands: opportunities and barriers. Rangel Ecol Manag 63:155–166. doi:10.2111/. 1/rem-d-09-00009.1
- Long SP, Ainsworth EA, Leakey ADB, Nosberger J, Ort DR (2006) Food for thought: lower-than-expected crop yield stimulation with rising CO2 concentrations. Science 312:1918–1921. doi:10.1126/science. 1114722
- López MV, Moret D, Gracia R, Arrúe JL (2003) Tillage effects on barley residue cover during fallow in semiarid Aragon. Soil Tillage Res 72: 53–64. doi:10.1016/s0167-1987(03)00047-3
- Maestre FT, Salguero-Gómez R, Quero JL (2012) It is getting hotter in here: determining and projecting the impacts of global environmental change on drylands. Philos T Roy Soc B 367:3062–3075. doi:10. 1098/rstb.2011.0323
- Marks E, Aflakpui GKS, Nkem J, Poch RM, Khouma M, Kokou K, Sagoe R, Sebastià MT (2009) Conservation of soil organic carbon, biodiversity and the provision of other ecosystem services along climatic gradients in West Africa. Biogeosciences 6:1825–1838. doi:10.5194/bg-6-1825-2009
- Matos ES, Freese D, Mendonca ES, Slazak A, Huettl RF (2011) Carbon, nitrogen and organic C fractions in topsoil affected by conversion from silvopastoral to different land use systems. Agrofor Syst 81: 203–211. doi:10.1007/s10457-010-9314-y
- Middleton N, Thomas D (1997) World atlas of desertification, 2nd edn. Arnold, London
- Miner GL, Hansen NC, Inman D, Sherrod LA, Peterson GA (2013) Constraints of no-till dryland agroecosystems as bioenergy production systems. Agron J 105:364–376. doi:10.2134/agronj2012.0243
- Montenegro AAA, Abrantes J, de Lima J, Singh VP, Santos TEM (2013) Impact of mulching on soil and water dynamics under intermittent simulated rainfall. Catena 109:139–149. doi:10.1016/j.catena.2013. 03.018
- Moreno F, Murillo JM, Pelegrín F, Girón IF (2006) Long-term impact of conservation tillage on stratification ratio of soil organic carbon and loss of total and active CaCO₃. Soil Tillage Res 85:86–93. doi:10. 1016/j.still.2004.12.001
- Mouat DA, Lancaster JM (2008) Drylands in crisis—environmental change and human response. In: Liotta PH et al. (eds) Environmental change and human security: recognizing and acting on hazard impacts, Springer Science, pp. 67-80. doi: 10.1007/978-1-4020-8551-2 4
- Naeem S, Duffy JE, Zavaleta E (2012) The functions of biological diversity in an age of extinction. Science 336:1401–1406. doi:10.1126/ science.1215855
- Neely C, Bunning S, Wilkes A (2009) Review of evidence on drylands pastoral systems and climate change: implications and opportunities for mitigation and adaptation. Land and Water Discussion Paper 8. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome

- Oates LG, Jackson RD (2014) Livestock management strategy affects net ecosystem carbon balance of subhumid pasture. Rangel Ecol Manag 67:19–29. doi:10.2111/rem-d-12-00151.1
- Oehl F, Sieverding E, Ineichen K, Ris EA, Boller T, Wiemken A (2005) Community structure of arbuscular mycorrhizal fungi at different soil depths in extensively and intensively managed agroecosystems. New Phytol 165:273–283. doi:10.1111/j.1469-8137.2004.01235.x
- Ojima DS, Smith MS, Beardsley M (1995) Factors affecting carbon storage in semi-arid and arid ecosystems. In: Squires VR, Glenn EP, Ayoub AT (eds) Combating global climate change by combating land degradation. UNEP, Nairobi
- Pachepsky YA, Rawls WJ (2003) Soil structure and pedotransfer functions. Eur J Soil Sci 54:443–451
- Palm C, Blanco-Canqui H, DeClerck F, Gatere L, Grace P (2013) Conservation agriculture and ecosystem services: an overview. Agric Ecosyst Environ 187:87–105. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2013.10. 010
- Perfecto I, Vandermeer J (2008) Biodiversity conservation in tropical agroecosystems—a new conservation paradigm. Ann NY Acad Sci 1134:173–200. doi:10.1196/annals.1439.011
- Perret J, Prasher SO, Kantzas A, Langford C (1999) Three-dimensional quantification of macropore networks in undisturbed soil cores. Soil Sci Soc Am J 63:1530–1543
- Peterson GA, Westfall DG (2004) Managing precipitation use in sustainable dryland agroecosystems. Ann Appl Biol 144:127–138. doi:10. 1111/j.1744-7348.2004.tb00326.x
- Pineiro G, Paruelo JM, Oesterheld M, Jobbagy EG (2010) Pathways of grazing effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen. Rangel Ecol Manag 63:109–119. doi:10.2111/08-255.1
- Plaza-Bonilla D, Álvaro-Fuentes J, Cantero-Martínez C (2013a) Soil aggregate stability as affected by fertilization type under semiarid notillage conditions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 77:284–292. doi:10.2136/ sssaj2012.0258
- Plaza-Bonilla D, Cantero-Martínez C, Viñas P, Álvaro-Fuentes J (2013b) Soil aggregation and organic carbon protection in a no-tillage chronosequence under Mediterranean conditions. Geoderma 193: 76–82. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.10.022
- Plaza-Bonilla D, Álvaro-Fuentes J, Arrúe JL, Cantero-Martínez C (2014) Tillage and nitrogen fertilization effects on nitrous oxide yieldscaled emissions in a rainfed Mediterranean area. Agric Ecosyst Environ 189:43–52. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2014.03.023
- Poeplau C, Don A (2013) Sensitivity of soil organic carbon stocks and fractions to different land-use changes across Europe. Geoderma 192:189–201. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma.2012.08.003
- Prior SA, Runion GB, Rogers HH, Torbert HA, Reeves DW (2005) Elevated atmospheric CO₂ effects on biomass production and soil carbon in conventional and conservation cropping systems. Global Chang Biol 11:657–665. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.00935.x
- Ramnarine R, Wagner-Riddle C, Dunfield KE, Voroney RP (2012) Contributions of carbonates to soil CO₂ emissions. Can J Soil Sci 92:599–607. doi:10.4141/cjss2011-025
- Rasse DP, Rumpel C, Dignac MF (2005) Is soil carbon mostly root carbon? Mechanisms for a specific stabilisation. Plant Soil 269: 341–356. doi:10.1007/s11104-004-0907-y
- Reeder JD, Schuman GE, Morgan JA, LeCain DR (2004) Response of organic and inorganic carbon and nitrogen to long-term grazing of the shortgrass steppe. Environ Manag 33:485–495. doi:10.1007/ s00267-003-9106-5
- Rodeghiero M, Rubio A, Díaz-Pinés E, Romanya J, Marañón-Jiménez S, Levy GJ, Fernandez-Getino AP, Sebastià MT, Karyotis T, Chiti T, Sirca C, Martins A, Madeira M, Zhiyanski M, Gristina L, Mantia T, la Mantia T (2011) Soil carbon in Mediterranean ecosystems and related management problems. In: Jandl R, Rodeghiero M, Olsson M (eds) Soil carbon in sensitive European ecosystems: from science to land management. Wiley, Somerset, pp 175–218

- Roth JA, Ciampitti IA, Vyn TJ (2013) Physiological evaluations of recent drought-tolerant maize hybrids at varying stress levels. Agron J 105: 1129–1141. doi:10.2134/agronj2013.0066
- Sainju UM, Caesar-TonThat T, Lenssen AW, Evans RG, Kolberg R (2007) Long-term tillage and cropping sequence effects on dryland residue and soil carbon fractions. Soil Sci Soc Am J 71:1730–1739. doi:10.2136/ssaj2006.0433
- Samaké O, Smaling EMA, Kropff MJ, Stromph TJ, Kodio A (2005) Effects of cultivation practices on spatial variation of soil fertility and millet yields in the Sahel of Mali. Agric Ecosyst Environ 109: 335–345. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2005.02.024
- Sanaullah M, Chabbi A, Girardin C, Durand J-L, Poirier M, Rumpel C (2014) Effects of drought and elevated temperature on biochemical composition of forage plants and their impact on carbon storage in grassland soil. Plant Soil 374:767–778. doi:10.1007/s11104-013-1890-y
- Sanderman J (2012) Can management induced changes in the carbonate system drive soil carbon sequestration? A review with particular focus on Australia. Agric Ecosyst Environ 155:70–77. doi:10. 1016/j.agee.2012.04.015
- Sanderson MA, Archer D, Hendrickson J, Kronberg S, Liebig M, Nichols K, Schmer M, Tanaka D, Aguilar J (2013) Diversification and ecosystem services for conservation agriculture: outcomes from pastures and integrated crop-livestock systems. Renew Agric Food Syst 28:129–144. doi:10.1017/s1742170512000312
- Sapkota TB, Mazzoncini M, Barberi P, Antichi D, Silvestri N (2012) Fifteen years of no till increase soil organic matter, microbial biomass and arthropod diversity in cover crop-based arable cropping systems. Agron Sustain Dev 32:853–863. doi:10.1007/s13593-011-0079-0
- Saseendran SA, Nielsen DC, Ahuja LR, Ma L, Lyon DJ (2013) Simulated yield and profitability of five potential crops for intensifying the dryland wheat-fallow production system. Agric Water Manag 116: 175–192. doi:10.1016/j.agwat.2012.07.009
- Schlesinger WH (2000) Carbon sequestration in soils: some cautions amidst optimism. Agric Ecosyst Environ 82:121–127. doi:10. 1016/s0167-8809(00)00221-8
- Shaver TM, Peterson GA, Ahuja LR, Westfall DG (2013) Soil sorptivity enhancement with crop residue accumulation in semiarid dryland no-till agroecosystems. Geoderma 192:254–258. doi:10.1016/j. geoderma.2012.08.014
- Silveira ML, Liu K, Sollenberger LE, Follett RF, Vendramini JMB (2013) Short-term effects of grazing intensity and nitrogen fertilization on soil organic carbon pools under perennial grass pastures in the southeastern USA. Soil Biol Biochem 58:42–49. doi:10.1016/j.soilbio. 2012.11.003
- Silver WL, Ryals R, Eviner V (2010) Soil carbon pools in California's annual grassland ecosystems. Rangel Ecol Manag 63:128–136. doi: 10.2111/rem-d-09-00106.1
- Six J, Ogle SM, Breidt FJ, Conant RT, Mosier AR, Paustian K (2004) The potential to mitigate global warming with no-tillage management is only realized when practised in the long term. Global Chang Biol 10:155–160. doi:10.1111/j.1529-8817.2003.00730.x
- Skopp J, Jawson MD, Doran JW (1990) Steady-state aerobic microbial activity as a function of soil-water content. Soil Sci Soc Am J 54: 1619–1625. doi:10.2136/sssaj1990.03615995005400060018x
- Smith J, Smith P, Wattenbach M, Zaehle S, Hiederer R, Jones RJA, Montanarella L, Rounsevell MDA, Reginster I, Ewert F (2005) Projected changes in mineral soil carbon of European croplands and grasslands, 1990-2080. Global Chang Biol 11:2141–2152. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2005.001075.x
- Smith S, Vandenberghe C, Hastings A, Johnson D, Pakeman R, van der Wal R, Woodin S (2014) Optimizing carbon storage within a spatially heterogeneous upland grassland through sheep grazing management. Ecosystems 17:418–429



- Sommer R, de Pauw E (2011) Organic carbon in soils of Central Asiastatus quo and potentials for sequestration. Plant Soil 338:273–288. doi:10.1007/s11104-010-0479-y
- Soussana J-F, Lemaire G (2014) Coupling carbon and nitrogen cycles for environmentally sustainable intensification of grasslands and croplivestock systems. Agric Ecosyst Environ 190:9–17. doi:10.1016/j. agee.2013.10.012
- Soussana J, Barioni L, Ben Ari T, Conant R, Gerber P, Havlik P, Ickowicz A, Howden M (2013) Managing grassland systems in a changing climate: the search for practical solutions. In: Michalk DL, Millar GD, Badgery WB, Broadfoot KM, Michalk DL, Millar GD, Badgery WB, Broadfoot KM (eds) Revitalising grasslands to sustain our communities. Proceedings 22nd International Grassland Congress, Sydney, pp 10–27
- Spokas L, Steponavicius D (2011) Fuel consumption during cereal and rape harvesting and methods of its reduction. J Food Agric Environ 9:257–263
- Steffens M, Kolbl A, Totsche KU, Kogel-Knabner I (2008) Grazing effects on soil chemical and physical properties in a semiarid steppe of Inner Mongolia. Geoderma 143:63–72. doi:10.1016/j.geoderma. 2007.09.004
- Steinfeld H, Gerber P, Wassenaar T, Castel V, Rosales M, de Haan C (2006) Livestock's long shadow: environmental issues and options. Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), Rome
- Stockmann U, Adams MA, Crawford JW, Field DJ, Henakaarchchi N, Jenkins M, Minasny B, McBratney AB, de Courcelles VR, Singh K, Wheeler I, Abbott L, Angers DA, Baldock J, Bird M, Brookes PC, Chenu C, Jastrowh JD, Lal R, Lehmann J, O'Donnell AG, Parton WJ, Whitehead D, Zimmermann M (2013) The knowns, known unknowns and unknowns of sequestration of soil organic carbon. Agric Ecosyst Environ 164:80–99. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2012.10.001
- Su YZ (2007) Soil carbon and nitrogen sequestration following the conversion of cropland to alfalfa forage land in northwest China. Soil Tillage Res 92:181–189. doi:10.1016/j.still.2006.03.001
- Tamir G, Shenker M, Heller H, Bloom PR, Fine P, Bar-Tal A (2011) Can soil carbonate dissolution lead to overestimation of soil respiration? Soil Sci Soc Am J 75:1414–1422. doi:10.2136/sssaj2010.0396
- Teague WR, Dowhower SL, Baker SA, Haile N, DeLaune PB, Conover DM (2011) Grazing management impacts on vegetation, soil biota and soil chemical, physical and hydrological properties in tall grass prairie. Agric Ecosyst Environ 141:310–322. doi:10.1016/j.agee. 2011.03.009
- Thomas RJ (2008) Opportunities to reduce the vulnerability of dryland farmers in Central and West Asia and North Africa to climate change. Agric Ecosyst Environ 126:36–45. doi:10.1016/j.agee. 2008.01.011
- Tongway D, Hindley N (2004) Landscape function analysis: procedures for monitoring and assessing landscapes, with special reference to minesites and rangelands. CSIRO Sustainable Ecosystems, Canberra
- Vågen TG, Lal R, Singh BR (2005) Soil carbon sequestration in Sub-Saharan Africa: a review. Land Degrad Dev 16:53–71. doi:10.1002/ ldr.644
- Van Beek KR, Brawn JD, Ward MP (2014) Does no-till soybean farming provide any benefits for birds? Agric Ecosyst Environ 185:59–64. doi:10.1016/j.agee.2013.12.007
- van Groenigen KJ, Six J, Hungate BA, de Graaff MA, van Breemen N, van Kessel C (2006) Element interactions limit soil carbon storage. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 103:6571–6574. doi:10.1073/pnas. 0509038103
- van Kessel C, Venterea R, Six J, Adviento-Borbe MA, Linquist B, van Groenigen KJ (2013) Climate, duration, and N placement determine

N2O emissions in reduced tillage systems: a meta-analysis. Global Chang Biol 19:33–44. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2486.2012.02779.x

- Van Oost K, Quine TA, Govers G, De Gryze S, Six J, Harden JW, Ritchie JC, McCarty GW, Heckrath G, Kosmas C, Giraldez JV, da Silva JRM, Merckx R (2007) The impact of agricultural soil erosion on the global carbon cycle. Science 318:626–629. doi:10.1126/science. 1145724
- Verhulst N, Govaerts B, Verachtert E, Castellanos-Navarrete A, Mezzalama M, Wall P, Deckers J, Sayre K (2010) Conservation agriculture, improving soil quality for sustainable production systems? In: Lal R, Stewart BA (eds) Advances in soil science: food security and soil quality. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp 137–208
- Virto I, Gartzia-Bengoetxea N, Fernández-Ugalde (2011) Role of organic matter and carbonates in soil aggregation estimated using laser diffractometry. Pedosphere 21:566–572. doi:10.1016/S1002-0160(11) 60158-6
- Virto I, Barré P, Burlot A, Chenu C (2012) Carbon input differences as the main factor explaining the variability in soil organic C storage in notilled compared to inversion tilled agrosystems. Biogeochemistry 108:17–26. doi:10.1007/s10533-011-9600-4
- Vohland K, Barry B (2009) A review of in situ rainwater harvesting (RWH) practices modifying landscape functions in African drylands. Agric Ecosyst Environ 131:119–127. doi:10.1016/j.agee. 2009.01.010
- Walmsley DC, Siemens J, Kindler R, Kirwan L, Kaiser K, Saunders M, Kaupenjohann M, Osborne BA (2011) Dissolved carbon leaching from an Irish cropland soil is increased by reduced tillage and cover cropping. Agric Ecosyst Environ 142:393–402. doi:10.1016/j.agee. 2011.06.011
- Wang XB, Cai DX, Hoogmoed WB, Oenema O, Perdok UD (2007) Developments in conservation tillage in rainfed regions of North China. Soil Tillage Res 93:239–250. doi:10.1016/j.still.2006.05.005
- West TO, Post WM (2002) Soil organic carbon sequestration rates by tillage and crop rotation: a global data analysis. Soil Sci Soc Am J 66:1930–1946
- Wilcox J, Makowski D (2014) A meta-analysis of the predicted effects of climate change on wheat yields using simulation studies. Field Crop Res 156:180–190. doi:10.1016/j.fcr.2013.11.008
- Wilhelm WW, Johnson JME, Karlen DL, Lightle DT (2007) Corn stover to sustain soil organic carbon further constrains Biomass supply. Agron J 99:1665–1667. doi:10.2134/agronj2OO7.0150
- Witt GB, Noel MV, Bird MI, Beeton RJS, Menzies NW (2011) Carbon sequestration and biodiversity restoration potential of semi-arid mulga lands of Australia interpreted from long-term grazing exclosures. Agric Ecosyst Environ 141:108–118. doi:10.1016/j. agee.2011.02.020
- Wu H, Guo Z, Gao Q, Peng C (2009) Distribution of soil inorganic carbon storage and its changes due to agricultural land use activity in China. Agric Ecosyst Environ 129:413–421. doi:10.1016/j.agee. 2008.10.020
- Yang Y, Fang J, Ji C, Ma W, Mohammat A, Wang S, Wang S, Datta A, Robinson D, Smith P (2012) Widespread decreases in topsoil inorganic carbon stocks across China's grasslands during 1980s-2000s. Global Chang Biol 18:3672–3680. doi:10.1111/gcb.12025
- Zavaleta ES, Pasari JR, Hulvey KB, Tilman GD (2010) Sustaining multiple ecosystem functions in grassland communities requires higher biodiversity. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 107:1443–1446. doi:10. 1073/pnas.0906829107
- Zika M, Erb K-H (2009) The global loss of net primary production resulting from human-induced soil degradation in drylands. Ecol Econ 69:310–318. doi:10.1016/j.ecolecon.2009.06.014
- Ziter C, MacDougall AS (2013) Nutrients and defoliation increase soil carbon inputs in grassland. Ecology 94:106–116

